*Orin*

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
OF FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT

CASE NO. 87-259

MELYANA KLUKEWICH,

Appellant

DADE CIRCUIT COURT

vs.

CASE NO. 86-33473 FC (09)

(Judge Levy)

JOHN B. HOWENSTINE

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_  
INITIAL BRIEF  
OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

**FILED**  
NOV 19 1987  
COURT  
Clerk

LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN R. HERSH

Attorneys for Plaintiff  
602, Biscayne Building  
19 West Flagler Street  
Miami, Florida 33130-4477  
Phone: 305-371-6294

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On or about August 1, 1986, the Mother filed her Emergency Verified Complaint to Determine Paternity of child, support, attorney's fees and Motion to Enjoin Removal of Assets from state. (R. \_\_\_\_\_). The Defendant was served with the Emergency Verified Complaint on August 13, 1986 in Harris County, Texas. (R. 1-2).

On or about September 2, 1986, the Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss and Quash the Emergency Verified Complaint based on the following grounds:

1. Lack of Jurisdiction over the Defendant; and/or
2. Insufficiency of process; and/or
3. Insufficiency of service of process.

(R. 3-4)

After a hearing on October 9, 1986, on the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Quash, the Court entered an Order on October 16, 1986, requiring the parties to respond to the Court in writing (R. 15).

The Mother submitted a Memorandum of Law in opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Quash. (R. 7-14).

On January 15, 1987, the Circuit Court Judge (DAVID L. Levy) entered an Order of Dismissal. (R. 17-18) The Court granted the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Quash. It is from this Order that the Mother appeals.

The facts in this case are not in conflict. Melyana Klukewich is now, and was at all material times a resident of Dade County, Florida. Melyana is an unmarried woman. In January, 1986, Melyana and the Defendant (John B. Howenstine) met each other and began to date each other.

The Defendant is a businessman who presently resides in Houston, Texas. In January, 1986, and at all times both before and after January, 1986, the Defendant frequently travelled to Miami, Dade County, Florida.

After meeting each other in January, 1986, the parties engaged in sexual intercourse with each other in Miami, Dade County, Florida. The parties engaged in sexual intercourse on several occasions including but not limited to the weekend of April 5, 1986. A child was conceived by the mother on or about April 5, 1986 in Miami, Dade County, Florida. The child (Daria Anne Klukewich) was born on January 7, 1987 in Miami, Dade County, Florida.

As alleged in the Emergency Verified Complaint, the mother had no sexual relations with any men other than the Defendant during the material times herein. The mother is without funds to support the parties' minor child and is in need of child support and expenses incurred in the delivery of the child. The expenses were incurred in Miami, Dade County, Florida. The child resides with the mother in Dade County, Florida.

The Defendant has business and personal contacts in the State of Florida. Additionally, the act of conceiving the child (sexual intercourse) was done within the State of Florida. There are sufficient minimum contacts within the State of Florida to permit the State of Florida to exercise its jurisdiction in this case.

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENTERING AN ORDER OF DISMISSAL GRANTING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND QUASH WHERE THE DEFENDANT COMMITTED A TORTIOUS ACT WITHIN THE STATE BY HAVING SEXUAL INTERCOURSE WITHIN THE STATE AND FAILING TO FULFILL HIS DUTY OF PAYING CHILD SUPPORT TO THE MOTHER.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In a paternity case, the alleged failure of a putative father to fulfill the duty of support is alone sufficient to constitute a tortious act within the meaning of the Florida Long-Arm Statute, Section 48.193(1)(b), Florida Statutes. Bell v. Tuffnell (infra).

The issue of paternity and child support are properly raised in this suit. Estanislao (infra). It is not necessary to first determine paternity and then proceed on the support issue in an ancillary proceeding.

The act of siring a child within the State of Florida is sufficient to subject the putative father to the jurisdiction of the Florida Courts. The Defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with the State of Florida to subject him to the Court's jurisdiction. International Shoe (infra).

The parties met in Florida. The parties dated each other in the State of Florida. The parties engaged in sexual intercourse in the State of Florida. The child was conceived in the State of Florida. The child was born in and resides in the State of Florida. The child will seek assistance from the State of Florida in pursuing her rights against the putative father.

The trial court erred by entering an Order of Dismissal granting the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Quash.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENTERING AN ORDER OF DISMISSAL, GRANTING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND QUASH, WHERE THE DEFENDANT COMMITTED A TORTIOUS ACT WITHIN THE STATE BY HAVING SEXUAL INTERCOURSE WITHIN THE STATE AND FAILING TO FULFILL HIS DUTY OF PAYING CHILD SUPPORT TO THE MOTHER.

Pursuant to the Florida Long-Arm Statute, Section 48.193

(1)(b) (Florida Statutes, 1985) the Defendant is subject to the Florida Court's jurisdiction. The applicable portion of the statute provides:

- (1) Any person, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who personally or through an agent does any of the acts enumerated in this subsection thereby submits that person and, if he is a natural person, his personal representative to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state for any cause of action arising from the doing of any of the following:
  - (b) commits a tortious act within this state.

In Bell v. Tuffnell, 418 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the Court held that although the Appellant (father) was a resident of Tennessee, his act of siring the child occurred in Florida and thus subjected him to the jurisdiction of the Florida courts.

The Court stated that "the alleged failure by a putative father to fulfill the duty of support is alone sufficient to constitute a tortious act within the meaning of (the) Long-Arm Statute." Bell at 423.

The Appellant in Bell argued that liability for support is not the primary issue in a paternity suit but merely a secondary step in a paternity determination. The court in Bell referred to Estanislao v. State, Dept. of HRS, 368 So.2d 677 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) to reject that contention. In Estanislao, the court ruled that the suit was one to establish both paternity and support and is an "independent action for support of dependants..." Although Estanislao was based upon a different section of the Florida Long-Arm Statute (48.193 (1)(e)); the Court in Bell was following the same Section of the Long-Arm Statute which the mother in this case is following §48.193 (1)(b).

Other courts have also ruled in favor of subjecting putative fathers to the court's jurisdiction based on Long-Arm Statutes, where the putative father's only connection with the State was the act of having sexual intercourse within the state.

In Larsen v. Scholl, 296 N.W. 2d 785, 789 (Iowa 1980), the Iowa Supreme Court took an overview of other paternity case decisions from other states which disclosed that the "majority support the concept of jurisdiction over the non-resident putative father, either on the basis that the conduct was tortious or that the (Long-Arm) Statute or rule was broad enough to include in-state conduct as constitutionally adequate contact."

The facts in Larsen revealed that the putative father entered the state "at various times" during a two month period

and engaged in sexual intercourse with the Plaintiff, resulting in her pregnancy.

The nature and quality of these contacts, involving the siring of a child, are obvious, as is the nexus between these acts of intercourse and this action to establish paternity and provide support for the resulting child. Larsen at 790.

The Court went on to state that:

A direct, foreseeable cause and effect relationship exists between Defendant's Iowa contacts involving sexual intercourse and the resulting child born in Iowa to an Iowa mother. See McKenna v. Bennett, 558 P.2d at 1283 ("The birth of the child in Oregon for whom the parent would have a legal obligation of support is a foreseeable consequence of an act of sexual intercourse in Oregon"). He should reasonably anticipate being haled into an Iowa Court. See World-Wide Volkswagen, 444 U.S. at 297, 100 S.Ct. at 567, 62 L.Ed. 2d at 501... We hold that maintenance of the action in Iowa does not offend "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." See International Shoe, 326 U.S. at 316, 66 S.Ct. at 158, 90 L.Ed2d at 1026.

The Court in Larsen went through a two-step process in reviewing the case: (1) whether a statute or rule exists authorizing exercise of jurisdiction and (2) whether such exercise of jurisdiction would offend the due process principles embodied in the United States Constitution.

In the second-step due process inquiry the Court examined whether the assertion of in personam jurisdiction over the non-resident defendant satisfies the requirement of fair play and substantial justice. International Shoe Co. v.

Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S.Ct. 154, 158, 90 L.Ed. 95, 102 (1945). The "minimum contacts" test of International Shoe

is not susceptible of mechanical application; rather, the facts of each case must be weighed to determine whether the requisite "affiliating circumstances" are present. We recognize that this determination is one in which few answers will be written "in black and white. The greys are dominant and even among them the shades are innumerable." (Citations omitted)

The Larsen Court reviewed five factors in rendering their decision:

- (1) The quantity of the contacts;
- (2) the nature and quality of the contacts;
- (3) the source and connection of the cause of action with those contacts;
- (4) the interest of the forum state; and
- (5) the convenience of the parties.

As in Larsen, the Defendant came to Florida "at various times" during a several month period and engaged in sexual intercourse with the mother, resulting in her pregnancy. Thus, several contacts in Florida were involved. The nature and quality of these contacts, involving the siring of a child, are obvious, as is the nexus between these acts of intercourse and this action to establish paternity and provide support for the resulting child. <sup>1</sup>

Furthermore, the State of Florida obviously has a significant interest in this matter. Florida Statutes Chapter 742 - Determination of Paternity, directly address

1. The minor child, DARIA ANNE KLUKEWICH was born on January 7, 1987 in Miami, Dade County, Florida.

the states concern in paternity matters. This Statute provides a statutory procedure for determining paternity and compelling support.

Finally, the Court reviewed the fifth factor which was convenience of the parties. The mother and child reside in Dade County, Florida. Although the Defendant does not reside in Florida, he frequently comes to Florida on either business or pleasure. The Defendant has already retained counsel in Florida to represent him in these proceedings. Potential witnesses who could describe the parties relationship reside in Florida. Therefore, as in Larsen, a review of the above factors shows that the statutory and constitutional provisions would best be served by allowing the Florida Courts to exercise jurisdiction in this case.

The Supreme Court of Tennessee in Gentry vs. David, 512 S.W. 2d 4 (Tenn. 1974) held that the Tennessee courts had jurisdiction over a Georgia resident where this mother's complaint alleged that:

"during the time biologically certain to have been the instant of conception, your Petitioner had sexual intercourse with your Defendant in Roane County, Tennessee, and with no other person."  
Gentry at 5.

The Court stated that the above allegation, that the putative father committed an act in Tennessee which would render him liable for the support of their offspring, is sufficient to confer upon Tennessee courts personal jurisdiction of the putative father.

The Tennessee Supreme Court adopted the holding of the Supreme Court of Minnesota in State ex rel. Nelson v. Nelson, 298 Minn. 438, 216 N.W. 2d 140 (Minn. 1974). In Nelson the Court held that a paternity complaint which alleged the act of conception within the State alleged conduct of a tortious nature which involved sufficient minimum contacts with the forum state to allow the Long-Arm Statute to be constitutionally applied.

The Nelson Court stated that the thesis of the Defendant is that jurisdiction in paternity proceeds was not contemplated by the Long-Arm Statute. No such cause of action was recognized as a "tort" at common law. Furthermore, no "injury or property damage" was involved. The Court went on to state that the purpose of the Long-Arm Statute was to afford maximum protection to this State's residents injured by acts of non-residents.

By failing to perform his statutory duties of support, the Defendant, in this case, has caused foreseeable damages to the mother. The mother has indeed suffered injury, including the bearing of the child and the continuous trauma of rearing it alone. Additionally, the mother is faced with the financial burden of rearing the child, not to mention the costs incurred in having the child. For these reasons, the Nelson Court held that a tort did exist with their statutory interpretation and the Court could properly maintain the cause of action within the constitutional boundaries

In Poindexter v. Willis, 87 Ill. App. 2d 213, 231 N.E. 2d 1 (Ill. 5th DCA 1967), the court held that an Ohio resident was subject to the Illinois Court's jurisdiction by virtue of his having committed a tortious act within the state, namely, sexual intercourse. The Court stated that in interpreting the Long-Arm Statute and in particular, the word "tortious", the courts will read words in their ordinary and popularly understood sense. "We think the intent should be determined less from technicalities of definition than from considerations of general purpose and effect." Poindexter at 3.

The Mother recognizes the Second District Court of Appeals holding in State, Dept. of Health v. Wright, 489 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) which states:

We, accordingly, hold that neither a non-resident's act of sexual intercourse within the state of Florida resulting in conception of a child, nor the failure to support an illegitimate child prior to a determination of paternity, are tortious acts sufficient to enter jurisdiction under §48.193(1) (b) of the Florida Long-Arm Statute... Contra, Bell.

Furthermore, in Wright, the Court states that the Mother alternatively may litigate the matter in the state in which the nonresident putative father resides. The Supreme Court of Iowa in Larsen v. Schell, 296 N.W. 2d 785 (Iowa 1985), expressly rejected this concept of using alternative litigation to preclude the State from exercising jurisdiction in a paternity action over a nonresident putative father. In Larsen, the Court

stated that they were not convinced by the Defendant's argument that alternative litigation was available to the Mother. Similarly, in contradiction to the Wright case, this Court should not require the Mother to litigate the matter in the state in which the father resides (Texas), because this Court has jurisdiction over the person of the Defendant.

Although the Second District Court of Appeal would hold against the Mother in this case, the First District Court of Appeal would hold for the mother in this case. Unfortunately, the Third District Court of Appeal has not addressed this issue.

The mother submits that as there is a conflict between the District Courts of Appeal on this issue that this Court has the option of following either the First District Court of Appeal or the Second District Court of Appeal. As between District Courts of Appeal, sister district's opinion is merely persuasive. State v. Hayes, 333 So.2d 51 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). Furthermore, in Chapman v. Pinellas County, 423 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982), the Court stated the trial court is obliged to follow the precedents of other district courts of appeal where the appellate court in its own district has not decided the issue at hand.

The Mother submits that this Court should follow the First District Court of Appeals in Bell v. Tuffnell, 418 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) which would subject the Defendant in this case to this Court's jurisdiction. The complaint in this case alleges that the Mother and the Father engaged in sexual intercourse in the State of Florida and, as a result, a child was born in Florida.

The Father has a duty to support the child who resides in the State of Florida. Thus, the complaint has alleged sufficient facts according to Bell to subject the Father to this Court's jurisdiction.

It is an undisputed fact that the best interest of the child must be considered in this case, as in all paternity and support cases. It will be in the child's best interest to allow this action to proceed in the State of Florida which is where the child resides.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully requested that the Order of Dismissal of the Trial Court be reversed and remanded with instructions to proceed with the case and determine the paternity of the child and award child support accordingly.