IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,922

District Court Case No. 87-259 Circuit Court Case No. 86-33473 FC (09)

:

•

MELYANA KLUKEWICH,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOHN B. HOWENSTINE,

Respondent.

On Petition for Discretionary Review From the District Court of Appeal, Third District

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

By: GLEN RAFKIN, ESQ.

Young, Stern & Tannenbaum, P.A. 17071 West Dixie Highway North Miami Beach, Florida 33160 Telephone Number: (305) 945-1851

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A nonresident putative father of an illegitimate child allegedly conceived and born in the State of Florida cannot as a matter of statutory construction or constitutional analysis be subjected to the personal jurisdiction of a Florida court to adjudicate a statutory paternity and ancillary child support claim.

The only basis alleged for asserting long-arm jurisdiction over Mr. Howenstine is that he committed a tort within the State of Florida. Consensual intercourse between adults is not a tortious act within the meaning of Florida Statute \$48.193(1)(b), thus there is no statutory basis upon which to assert personal jurisdiction over a nonresident putative father to adjudicate a paternity or child support claim.

In addition, the failure of a nonresident putative father to support an illegitimate child to which he owes no legal duty is not a tortious act within the meaning of Florida Statute \$48.193(1)(b). Again, there is no statutory authority upon which to assert personal jurisdiction to adjudicate a paternity or child support claim.

If Florida Statute §48.193(1)(b) is found applicable, the assertion of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant whose only contact with the forum is consensual intercourse with an adult nonetheless offends the constitutional due process guarantees found in the constitutions of the United States and Florida.

ARGUMENT

I.

NONRESIDENT PUTATIVE FATHER OF AN Α ILLEGITIMATE CHILD ALLEGEDLY CONCEIVED AND BORN IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA CANNOT AS A MATTER OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION BE SUBJECTED TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF A FLORIDA COURT TO ADJUDICATE A STATUTORY PATERNITY AND ANCILLARY CHILD SUPPORT CLAIM.

A dual inquiry is necessary to determine whether Florida may assert in <u>personam</u> jurisdiction over Mr. Howenstine. The initial determination is whether Florida statutory law provides for the assertion of jurisdiction in the factual context of this case. If this question is answered affirmatively, the question then arises whether the exercise of such jurisdiction is constitutionally permissible. Rebozo v. Washington Post Co., 515 F.2d 1208 (5th Cir. 1975).

Petitioner first contends that Mr. Howenstine's failure to support her illegitimate child is a "tortious act" providing jurisdiction under the Florida Long-Arm Statute. Reliance is placed solely upon Florida Statute \$48.193(1)(b) (1985), which states as follows:

- (1) Any person, whether or not a citizen or resident of the state, who personally or through an agent does any of the acts enumerated in this subsection thereby submits that person and, if he is a natural person, his personal representative to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state for any cause of action arising from the doing of any of the following:
 - (b) Committing a tortious act within this state.

(Br. 6). Ms. Klukewich next contends that the act of sexual intercourse between the parties in Florida gives rise to constitutionally sound jurisdiction under Section 48.193(1)(b). (Br. 11).

- 3 -

Respondent respectfully submits that the reasoning upon which Petitioner's conclusions are based is logically flawed for the following reasons: (a) consensual intercourse between adults is not a tortious act within the meaning of 48.193(1)(b), thus there is no statutory basis upon which to assert personal jurisdiction over a nonresident putative father to adjudicate the paternity or child support claim; (b) the failure of a nonresident putative father to support an illegitimate child to which he owes no legal duty is not a tortious act within the meaning of 48.193(1)(b), thus there is no statutory authority upon which to assert personal jurisdiction to adjudicate the paternity or child support claim; (c) there is no nexus between the alleged contact and the claim for relief; and (d) the assertion of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident whose only contact with the forum is consensual intercourse with an adult offends the constitutional requirements of due process.

A. CONSENSUAL INTERCOURSE BETWEEN ADULTS IS NOT A TORTIOUS ACT WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 48.193(1)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985).

The definition of "tort" or "tortious act" has been defined in this legal context as:

[A]ny act committed in this state which involves a breach of duty to another and makes the one committing the act liable to respondent in damages . . . Poindexter v. Willis, 87 Ill. App.2d 213, 217-218, 231 N.E.2d 1, 3 (1967).

See also, Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965); Prosser, Torts 1, at 1-2 (3d ed. 1964).

Consensual intercourse between adults is not a tortious act. <u>State, Dept. of</u> <u>Health and Rehabilitative Services, Office of Child Support Enforcement ex rel.</u> <u>Luke v. Wright</u>, 489 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), <u>rev. pending</u>, (Case No.

69,050). All other courts addressing this issue have reached the same conclusion. See State ex rel. Garcia v. Dayton, 102 N.M. 327, 695 P.2d 477, 479 (1985) ("we cannot hold that voluntary intercourse is a 'tortious act' within the long arm statute); Howard v. County Court of Craighead County, 272 Ark. 205, 613 S.W.2d 386, 387 (1981) ("the act of sexual intercourse between consenting adults does not fall within the numerous definitions of a tort under the most liberal rules of construction"); State ex rel. Larimore v. Snyder, 206 Neb. 64, 291 N.W.2d 241, 242 (1980) ("act of sexual intercourse between consenting adults does not constitute an act 'causing tortious injury' in this state"); Taylor v. Texas Dept. of Public Welfare, 549 S.W.2d 422, 424 (Tex. Civ. App. 2d Dist. 1977) ("sexual intercourse between consenting adults was not a tort"); Barnhart v. Madvig, 526 S.W.2d 106, 108 (Tenn. 1975) ("by application of the most liberal rules of construction none of the numerous definitions of a 'tort' and a 'tortious act' would tolerate the inclusion of an act of sexual intercourse between consenting adult parties"); State ex rel. Carrington v. Schutts, 217 Kan. 175, 535 P.2d 982, 986 (1975) ("the most liberal rules of construction of phrase 'tortious act' would not tolerate the inclusion of an act of sexual intercourse between consenting parties"); A.R.B. v. G.L.P., 180 Colo. 439, 507 P.2d 468, 469 (1973) ("we have considered the numerous definitions of a 'tort' and a 'tortious act' and none of them . . . would tolerate the inclusion of an act of sexual intercourse between consenting adult parties"); State ex rel. McKenna v. Bennett, 28 Or. App. 155, 558 P.2d 1281, 1283 (Or. Ct. App. 1977) ("the conceptual act of intercourse, without some additional facts such as force, is not itself a tort"); Anonymous v. Anonymous, 104 Misc.2d 611, 428 N.Y.S.2d 608, 611 (N.Y. Fam. Ct. 1980) ("nor is there any New York case law to support an interpretation of the act of impregnation as a 'tortious act' absent an allegation of

- 5 -

assault"). Respondent has been unable to locate any contrary authority on this point of law.¹

Ms. Klukewich's allegation that her child was conceived in Florida (RA. 1) is thus insufficient to bring the paternity and child support claim within the purview of Section 48.193(1)(b).

B. FAILURE OF A NONRESIDENT PUTATIVE FATHER TO SUPPORT AN ILLEGITIMATE CHILD TO WHICH HE OWES NO LEGAL DUTY IS NOT A TORTIOUS ACT WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 48.193(1)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985).

Whether a nonresident putative father commits a "tortious act" by failing to support an illegitimate child prior to a determination of paternity is the issue which the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Bell v. Tuffnell</u>, 418 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>rev. denied</u>, 427 So.2d 736 (1983) and the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>State</u>, Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services, Office of Child <u>Support ex rel. Luke v. Wright</u>, 489 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), <u>rev. pending</u>, (Case No. 69,050) reached opposite results.²

¹ The appellant in Bell v. Tuffnell, 418 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), rev. denied, 427 So.2d 736 (1983), argued that sexual intercourse between consenting adults is not a tortious act. The First District Court of Appeal neither accepted nor rejected the argument and instead based its decision upon a holding that the "failure by a putative father to fulfill the duty of support is alone sufficient to constitute a tortious act . . ." Id. at 243. The fallacy of this conclusion is addressed in the next section of the Argument. Infra p. 13.

² This Court has accepted jurisdiction to review and presently has under consideration the appellate court's decision in *Luke*. Respondent urges a further consideration of the issues as this section attempts to directly confront several of the questions raised during oral argument addressed to Amicus Curiae John B. Howenstine.

The seminal case which has been relied upon for the proposition that nonsupport is a "tortious act" is <u>Poindexter v. Willis</u>, 87 Ill. App.2d 213, 231 N.E.2d 1 (1967). There, a resident of Illinois alleged that she had been seduced by the defendant in Illinois and that her child was the product of this seduction. Defendant, a resident of Ohio, was served with process in Ohio by the Illinois court in a paternity action brought by the mother. He argued that the intercourse had been consensual and Illinois could not have jurisdiction over him in Ohio. The Illinois appellate court found that a tortious act had been committed in its jurisdiction. The court did not expressly define what the tortious act was or whether the act provided sufficient minimum contacts to satisfy a constitutional due process analysis.

In a suit brought in Ohio to stay the judgment of the Illinois court, Mr. Willis challenged that judgment on jurisdictional grounds. Since the Ohio court was bound by Illinois' interpretation of the Illinois long-arm statute, it only addressed the constitutional question of minimum contacts. Resolving the issue against the putative father the Ohio court stated:

> For the purpose of this decision, the facts unequivocally show that the defendant, by becoming the father of the illegitimate child born to the plaintiff brought into play the effect of the Illinois law. (original emphasis) That law imposed upon him a duty to support his illegitimate child. This required performance in Illinois, that is, some measure of monetary support. His failure to do so was a breach of duty imposed by Illinois law and such failure obviously occurred in Illinois. The child could be supported nowhere else because it was a citizen and resident of Illinois.

<u>Poindexter v. Willis</u>, 23 Ohio Misc. 199, 209, 256 N.E.2d 254, 261 (Ohio Com. Pl. 1970). Thus, the Ohio court bootstrapped itself by presuming paternity (and the concomitant breach of duty) and finding contacts in support. However, paternity

- 7 -

and the existence of a legal duty to support were the very questions in issue.³ Several other jurisdictions including the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Bell</u> have nevertheless approved <u>Poindexter</u> and held that a nonresident putative father commits a "tortious act" by failing to support an illegitimate child prior to a determination of paternity. <u>In re Custody of Miller</u>, 86 Wash.2d 712, 548 P.2d 542 (1976); <u>Gentry v. Davis</u>, 512 S.W.2d 4 (Tenn. 1974); <u>State ex rel. Nelson v. Nelson</u>, 298 Minn. 438, 216 N.W.2d 140 (1974); <u>Black v. Rasile</u>, 113 Mich. App. 601, 318 N.W.2d 475 (Mich. Ct. App. 1980); <u>Neill v. Ridner</u>, 153 Ind. App. 149, 286 N.E.2d 427 (Ind. Ct. App. 1972).⁴

The <u>Bell-Poindexter</u> minority rule urged by Petitioner as the rule of law to be adopted by this Court has been harshly criticized and rejected by the Supreme Courts of New Mexico, Arkansas, Nebraska, Tennessee, Kansas, and Colorado and appellate courts in Washington and Oregon because it incorrectly assumes the putative father is the biological father of the illegitimate child with a legal duty of support prior to an adjudication of paternity. <u>State ex rel. Garcia v. Dayton</u>, 102 N.M. 327, 695 P.2d 477 (1985); <u>Howard v. County Court of Craighead County</u>, 272 Ark. 205, 613 S.W.2d 386 (1981); <u>State ex rel. Larimore v. Snyder</u>, 206 Neb. 64, 291 N.W.2d 241 (1980); <u>Barnhart v. Madvig</u>, 526 S.W.2d 106 (Tenn. 1975) (apparently receding from Gentry); State ex rel. Carrington v. Schutts, 217 Kan.

³ Had Ohio applied the Illinois definition of a "tortious act" which requires a breach of legal duty, supra at p. 4, it could not have reached this conclusion as it is undisputed that a putative father owes no duty to his illegitimate child. See Kendrick v. Everheart, 390 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1980); Clarke v. Blackburn, 151 So.2d 325 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963).

⁴ Illinois itself has somewhat retracted from the Poindexter ruling in People ex rel. Mangold v. Flieger, 106 Ill.2d 546, 478 N.E.2d 1366 (1985) where it was held that a father's failure to pay support within the state was not a sufficient contact.

175, 535 P.2d 982 (1975); <u>A.R.B. v. G.L.P.</u>, 180 Colo. 439, 507 P.2d 468 (1973); <u>Bershaw v. Sarbacher</u>, 40 Wash. App. 653, 700 P.2d 347 (Wash. Ct. App. 1985) (distinguishing and receding from <u>In re Custody of Miller</u>); <u>State ex rel. McKenna</u> <u>v. Bennett</u>, 28 Or. App. 155, 558 P.2d 1281 (Or. Ct. App. 1977). This assumption is illogical and in simple terms puts the cart before the horse:

> Petitioner relies heavily upon Poindexter v. Willis, 87 Ill. App.2d 213, 231 N.E.2d 1 (1967) to support her contention that the trial court did acquire personal jurisdiction of the respondent. That case seems to go off on the premise that failure to support (original emphasis) was a wrong which the legislature intended to include within the meaning of 'tortious act' but failure to support is actually only an ancillary issue in a paternity case, where the main guestion for determination is: Is the respondent the father of the child? If a respondent is found to be the father, then it automatically follows that he has violated his responsibility for support. Therefore, we do not regard Poindexter as a viable case upon which to rely for the resolution of the issue posed here.

<u>A.R.B.</u>, 507 P.2d at 469. <u>See also, Anonymous v. Anonymous</u>, 49 Misc.2d 675, 268 N.Y.S.2d 710 (N.Y. Fam. Ct. 1966).

The Second District Court of Appeal in <u>State</u>, <u>Dept. of Health and</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services</u>, <u>Office of Child Support Enforcement ex rel. Luke v.</u> <u>Wright</u>, 489 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) expressly considered and likewise rejected the Bell-Poindexter rule as being legally illogical:

> We agree with the latter line of cases which reason that failure to provide child support is only an ancillary issue in a paternity proceeding and that the first issue to be determined is whether the named defendant is the father of the child. In doing so, we disagree with the holding of the First District Court of Appeal in Bell v. Tuffnell, 418 So.2d 422 (1st DCA 1982), petition for review denied, 427 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1983). A court cannot, as an initial matter, assume that a defendant is the father of a child so that it can adjudicate the matter of nonsupport, and upon finding nonsupport, use such "tortious" conduct as the basis of jurisdiction to adjudicate paternity. Until determination of parenthood has been made, a putative

father owes no duty of support to his illegitimate child. See T.J.K. v. N.B..

489 So.2d at 1150-1151. The trial court found this reasoning persuasive. (RA. 8). The appellate court likewise found this reasoning compelling. (RA. 11). The rationale underlying this conclusion is that the purpose of a paternity action is to convert a natural and moral obligation of a father to support his illegitimate offspring into a legal obligation. <u>Kendrick v. Everheart</u>, 390 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1980). Therefore, the failure of a putative father to pay support cannot be a "tortious act" because he owes no legal duty to pay support prior to an adjudication of paternity.⁵

A historical analysis of the underpinnings of a paternity action further supports a conclusion that a child support demand ancillary thereto is not a tort claim. At common law a child born out of wedlock is said to be <u>silius nulius</u>, the child of nobody, and under the common law, the putative father owes no duty of support to his illegitimate child. This burden rests solely with the mother. Paternity "[bastardy] proceedings are purely statutory in nature, and the remedy given by the statute must measure the rights and liabilities of the parties." <u>T.J.K.</u> v. N.B., 237 So.2d 592 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). <u>See DeCosta v. North Broward</u> <u>Hospital District</u>, 497 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Florida statutes expressly state that a paternity claim and a child support demand incident thereto is not an action at law in tort but is an equitable proceeding:

⁵ In a published law review article, Associate Professor Martin Levy has written that "to find a tort in support when the issue of paternity has not yet been adjudicated is illogical and improper." Levy, Asserting Jurisdiction Over Nonresident Putative Fathers in Paternity Actions, 45 U. Cin. L. Rev. 207 (1976).

Any woman who shall be pregnant or delivered of a child may bring proceedings in the circuit court, in chancery, 6 to determine the paternity of such child.

Section 742.011, Fla. Stat. (1985).

The failure to support a legitimate child is similarly not a tortious act but

gives rise to an equitable proceeding:

Proceedings under this chapter [dissolution of marriage; support, custody] are in chancery.

Section 61.011, Fla. Stat. (1985).

Legislative acknowledgment that the failure to support a legitimate child is

not a tort came with the enactment of subsections (1)(b) and (e) to 48.193 which

provides as follows:

(1) Any person, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who personally or through an agent does any of the acts enumerated in this subsection thereby submits himself and, if he is a natural person, his personal representative to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state for any cause of action arising from the doing of any of the following acts:

(b) Committing a tortious act within this state.

(e) With respect to a proceeding for alimony, <u>child</u> <u>support</u>, or division of property in connection with an action to dissolve a marriage or with respect to an independent action for support of dependents, maintaining a <u>matrimonial domicile in this state</u> at the time of the commencement of this action or, if the defendant resided in this state preceding the commencement of the action, whether cohabiting during that time or not. This paragraph does not change the residency requirements for filing an action for dissolution of marriage.

Id.

7

⁶ Chancery is defined as "equity" or "equitable jurisdiction." Black's Law Dictionary, 5th Ed. (1979). This is in direct contrast to a tort claim which has its jurisdiction in law and not equity.

Had the legislative intent been to include support claims as a tort action within subsection (1)(b) there would have been no need to enact subsection (1)(e). <u>See generally, City of North Miami v. Miami Herald Publishing Co.</u>, 468 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1985) ("in construing legislation, court should not assume legislature acted pointlessly"). A judicial interpretation that the failure to support an illegitimate child constitutes a tortious act would not only be repugnant to Section 742.011, but would result in an irreconcilable inconsistency with Section 48.193(1)(e). If Petitioner and Respondent were married, subsection (e) would apply and subsection (b) would not have been applicable.⁸

An action for child support based upon an allegation that a putative father breached his duty to support his child is not maintainable under the long-arm statute and such an action would have been dismissed because Florida was never the parties' domicile (matrimonial or otherwise). Yet the <u>Bell-Poindexter</u> rule would permit the absurd result of conferring jurisdiction over a nonresident nonspouse to adjudicate paternity and child support claims based solely upon an allegation of a breach of duty to support an illegitimate child, not yet found to be the putative father's.

The legislative intent of a statute should be gathered from consideration of the statute as a whole rather than from any one part thereof. <u>Florida Jai-Alai,</u> <u>Inc. v. Lake Howell Water and Reclamation District</u>, 274 So.2d 522 (Fla. 1973). When the long-arm statute is read as a whole, section 48.193(1)(b) cannot be interpreted to apply to a nonresident putative father such as Mr. Howenstine.

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